2006

J. Pochynok Company, Inc., a Corporation v.  
Gregory Smedsrud and Louann Smedrud: Brief of  
Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

(Including standards of appellate review and supporting authority.)

**ISSUE ON APPEAL:** WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT HAD ENOUGH INFORMATION TO PROPERLY DETERMINE THE "SUCCESSFUL PARTY" IN THIS CASE FOR PURPOSES OF AWARDING ATTORNEY FEES BASED UPON THE JURY VERDICT THAT WAS RENDERED IN THIS MATTER?

*Applicable Standard of Appellate Review:* When a trial court's rulings are based upon a misunderstanding or misapplication of the law, where a correct one would have produced a different result, the party adversely affected is entitled to have the error rectified in a proper adjudication under a correct principal of law. *Reed v. Avery*, 616 P.2d 1374 (Utah 1980); *Farris v. Jennings*, 595 P.2d 857 (Utah 1979) and *Cummings v. Nielson*, 42 Utah 157, 129 Pac. 519 (1912). Whether and the extent to which attorney fees are recoverable in an action is a question of law which is reviewed for correctness. *Selvage v. J.J. Johnson & Assocs.*, 910 P.2d 1252 (Ut. Ct. App. 1996).

*Preservation of Issue:* The above stated issue was preserved for appeal by the following: Defendants' Motion To Tax Costs And Attorney Fees (R. 387-389);

Memorandum Of Law In Support Of Defendants' Motion To Tax Costs And Attorneys' Fees (R. 435-459); Plaintiff's Motion For Award Of Attorney's Fees And Costs (R. 469-470); Plaintiff's Memorandum In Support Of Plaintiff's Motion For Award Of Attorney's Fees And Costs And In Opposition To Defendant's Motion To Tax Costs And Attorney's Fees (R. 572-592); Reply Memorandum In Support Of Defendants' Motion To Tax Costs And Attorneys Fees (R. 544-554); Memorandum In Opposition To Plaintiff's Motion For Award Of Attorneys' Fees And Costs (R. 567-571); Plaintiff's Reply Memorandum In Support Of Plaintiff's Motion For Award Of Attorney's Fees And Costs (R. 598-609); Minute Entry Ruling (R. 621-622); Judgment Upon Verdict And Order On Post Trial Motions (R. 635-640); Plaintiff's Rule 59(e) Motion To Amend Judgment (R. 650-651); Memorandum In Support Of Plaintiff's Rule 59(e) Motion To Amend Judgment (R. 652-666); Memorandum In Opposition To Plaintiff's Rule 59(e) Motion To Amend Judgment (R. 667-686); Reply Memorandum In Support Of Plaintiff's Rule 59(e) Motion To Amend Judgment (R. 706-718); Minute Entry Ruling (R. 726-727); Order Denying Motion To Amend Judgment (R. 729-731); Appellant's briefing in the Utah Court Of Appeals (Case No. 20020940-CA); Appellant's briefing in the Utah Supreme Court (Case No. 20040005-SC); Remittitur From Utah Supreme Court (R. 892-903); Remittitur – Order On Remand (R. 904-905); Pochynok's Request For New Jury Trial And Submission Of Form Of Special Verdict To Jury (R. 954-973); Pochynok's Submission Of Proposed Findings Of Fact And Conclusions Of Law (R. 974-975); and Smedsruuds' Findings Of fact And Conclusions Of Law Re: Costs And Attorneys Fees (R. 984-992).

**ISSUE ON APPEAL: WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED WHEN IT FAILED TO SET ASIDE THE GARNISHMENT OF POCHYNOK'S ACCOUNT AND FAILED TO RESINSTATE POCHYNOK'S MECHANIC'S LIEN?**

*Applicable Standard of Appellate Review:* When a trial court's rulings are based upon a misunderstanding or misapplication of the law, where a correct one would have produced a different result, the party adversely affected is entitled to have the error rectified in a proper adjudication under a correct principal of law. *Reed v. Avery*, 616 P.2d 1374 (Utah 1980); *Farris v. Jennings*, 595 P.2d 857 (Utah 1979) and *Cummings v. Nielson*, 42 Utah 157, 129 Pac. 519 (1912).

*Preservation of Issue:* The above-stated issue was preserved for appeal by the following: Pochynok's Motion To Set Aside Garnishment, For Restitution, And To Reinstate Mechanic's Lien (R. 908-912); Memorandum In Support Of Pochynok's Motion To Set Aside Garnishment, For Restitution, And To Reinstate Mechanic's Lien (R. 908-912); Memorandum In Opposition To Pochynok's Motion To Set Aside Garnishment For Restitution And To Reinstate Mechanic's Lien (R. 913-936); Reply Memorandum In support Of Pochynok's Motion To Set Aside Garnishment, for Restitution, And To Reinstate Mechanic's Lien; Minute Entry Ruling (R. 944-945); Minute Entry (R. 946-949); and Minutes Law And Motion (R. 950).

**STATUTES WHICH ARE OF DETERMINATIVE AND OF CENTRAL IMPORTANCE ON THE APPEAL**

**Utah Code Annotated § 38-1-18. Attorneys' fees -- Offer of judgment.**

(1) Except as provided in Section 38-11-107 and in Subsection (2), in any action brought to enforce any lien under this chapter the successful party shall be entitled to recover a reasonable attorneys' fee, to be fixed by the court, which shall be taxed as costs in the action.



(2) A person who files a wrongful lien as provided in Section 38-1-25 is not entitled to recover attorneys' fees under Subsection (1).

(3) A party against whom any action is brought to enforce a lien under this chapter may make an offer of judgment pursuant to Rule 68 of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure. If the offer is not accepted and the judgment finally obtained by the offeree is not more favorable than the offer, the offeree shall pay the costs and attorneys' fees incurred by the offeror after the offer was made.

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

### Nature of the Case, Course Of Proceedings, And Disposition Below

Pochynok, a general contractor, brought suit against the Smedsruuds seeking to recover damages for breach of a construction contract and to foreclose its mechanic's lien. The Smedsruuds asserted a counterclaim also seeking damages for breach of the construction contract. At trial, the jury found in favor of Pochynok awarding \$7,076.56. There was no award entered on the jury verdict form in favor of the Smedsruuds.

Pochynok and the Smedsruuds each filed post trial motions asserting that they were the successful party at trial and sought costs and attorneys fees pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 31-1-18. The Smedsruuds argued that they were entitled to their attorney fees because they were the "successful party" in the litigation in accordance with § 38-1-18(1). Contrary to the Smedsruuds position, Pochynok argued that as the only party to be awarded by the jury, Pochynok was in fact the "successful party" in the litigation, and therefore entitled to its attorney fees under § 31-1-18(1). The trial court ruled that the Smedsruuds were the prevailing party and therefore entitled to recover all of their costs and attorney fees. The Smedsruuds subsequently garnished \$37,585.00 from Pochynok Company's bank account. Despite Pochynok's objections, the trial court upheld the garnishment.

This case was then appealed to the Utah Court of Appeals in 2002. *Pochynok v. Smedsrud*, 80 P.3d 563, 486 Utah Adv. Rep 27, 2003 UT App 375 (Ut. Ct. App. 2003). On appeal, Pochynok argued that it was entitled to costs and fees incurred in the action because it was the only party that received an award from the jury. Pochynok also contested the appropriateness of the garnishment. The Smedsruuds argued that the trial court should have evaluated the successful party determination using a “flexible and reasoned” approach and further contended that the garnishment was appropriate. The Court of Appeals affirmed the trial court’s rulings in all respects.

Pochynok thereafter petitioned to the Utah Supreme Court for a Writ Of Certiorari. The Utah Supreme Court granted the petition and heard the case. *Pochynok v. Smedsrud*, 116 P.3d 353, 528 Utah Adv. Rep 34, 2005 UT 39 (Utah 2004). The Utah Supreme Court expressed approval for the use of the “flexible and reasoned” approach, but reversed the Court of Appeals decision and directed the appellate court “to remand to the trial court for a factual determination of awards and offsets, followed by a ruling on who is the successful party under Utah Code section 38-1-18(1) and whether an award of attorneys fees under Utah Code section 38-1-18(3) is proper.” Upon remand the attorney fees award was vacated pending the trial court’s determination.

After remand and the setting aside of the attorney fees award, Pochynok sought to have the money that had been formerly garnished from its account returned. Pochynok further requested that the trial court reinstate its mechanic’s lien. These issues were briefed and submitted to the trial court. Following oral argument the trial court declined to reinstate the mechanic’s lien and took the garnishment issue under advisement. The

trial then directed the parties to submit proposed findings and conclusions in relation to the attorney fees issue.

Pochynok thereafter filed a motion for new trial along with its proposed findings and conclusions. Both the motion for new trial and proposed findings and conclusions averred that a new trial was warranted because the trial court did not have the information necessary from the jury to utilize the Utah Supreme Court mandated flexible and reasoned approach.

The Smedsruds filed their proposed findings and conclusions a few days later. On the same day the Smedsruds proposed finding and conclusions were filed, the trial court issued a minute entry which adopted the Smedsruds' proposal as the findings and conclusions of the trial court. The Smedsruds proposed findings and conclusions determined that the Smedsruds were the successful party in the litigation and were therefore entitled to *all* of their costs and fees. Pochynok appealed from the trial court's signed minute entry.

#### STATEMENT OF FACTS

1. In this action, Pochynok brought a breach of construction contract claim against the Smedsruds and sought to foreclose a mechanic's lien on real property owned by the Smedsruds. (R. 1-8) The Smedruds counterclaimed asserting they were entitled to substantial damages for breach of the same construction contract, which damages included unearned supervisor fees, workmanship defects and delay damages. (R. 19-29; 211-218)

2. The matter was presented to a jury on May 21 and 22, 2002. (R. 249-250)

3. At the conclusion of the evidence, the jury returned a verdict in favor of Pochynok Company in the amount of \$7,076.56. (R. 354-355) The “general” jury verdict form read as follows:

1. Based on the law as it has been explained to us, we find in favor of plaintiff J. Pochynok Company, Inc., and against defendants Gregory and LouAnn Smedsrud, in the amount of \$7,076.56.

2. Based on the law as it has been explained to us, we find in favor of defendants Gregory and LouAnn Smedsrud, and against plaintiffs J. Pochynok Company, Inc., in the amount of \$\_\_\_\_\_.

4. Pochynok and the Smedsruds each filed post-trial motions requesting attorneys fees on the basis that each respective party was the “successful party” in the lien foreclosure action pursuant to § 38-1-18(1).

5. Notwithstanding the fact that jury returned a verdict in favor of Pochynok and against the Smedsruds, the trial court ruled in favor of the Smedsruds, finding that the Smedsruds were the successful party and therefore entitled to recover their costs and fees. (R. 621-622 and 726-727)

6. Judgment was entered in favor of the Smedsruds on August 13, 2002. (R. 635-640)

7. On September 12, 2002, funds in a Pochynok Company bank account were garnished by the Smedsruds in the amount of \$37,585.00, and the garnishment was upheld by the trial court over Pochynok’s objection. (R. 703-705, 728 and 849-851)

8. Pochynok Company sought appellate review of the trial court’s determination that the Smedsruds were the successful party in the litigation. (R. 816-817)

9. In affirming the trial court's successful party determination, the Utah Court of Appeals stated as follows:

Here, the jury's verdict form does not provide precise calculations of offsets the jury may have made for the Smedsruuds' counterclaims for faulty workmanship, delay damages, and improper supervision. However, from the verdict, the trial court *could have reasonable inferred* such offsets by simply subtracting the jury's verdict of \$7,076.56 from the \$81,269.91 that Pochynok sought to recover in the lien enforcement action. The trial court could have reasonably concluded that the jury in fact found in favor of the Smedsruuds on their counterclaims and offset these damages in the amount of \$74,193.35 from Pochynok's initial claim. (emphasis added)

10. After receiving the Court of Appeals' decision, Pochynok filed a Petition For Writ Of Certiorari with the Utah Supreme Court.

11. The Utah Supreme Court reversed and remanded the Court of Appeals decision and directed the appellate court "to remand to the trial court for a factual determination of awards and offsets, followed by a ruling on who is the successful party under Utah Code section 38-1-18(1) and whether an award of attorneys fees under Utah Code section 38-1-18(3) is proper."

12. Based upon the Utah Supreme Court's decision, the attorney fees award in this case was vacated until the trial court made a determination of awards and offsets.

13. After the case returned to the trial court, Pochynok filed a motion to have the garnished money returned and for reinstatement of it's mechanic's lien. (R. 906-940)

14. The trial court denied reinstatement of the mechanic's lien, and took the garnishment issue under advisement. The trial court also directed that the parties file proposed findings and conclusions in relation to the successful party/attorney fees issue. (R. 946-950)

15. Pochynok then filed a request for a new trial, along with its proposed findings and conclusions. (R. 951-977)

16. A short time thereafter, the Smedsruuds filed their proposed findings and conclusions. On the same day as their filing, the trial court entered the proposed findings and conclusions as the trial court's findings and conclusions.

17. Pochynok thereafter appealed the signed minute entry order in which the trial court adopted the Smedruds' proposed findings and conclusions as its own.

### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

The trial court in this case did not have enough information from the jury to determine the successful party at trial for purposes of awarding costs and attorney fees. The trial court engaged in impermissible speculation in order to reach its findings and conclusions. As such, a new trial should be granted so a proper award of costs and attorney fees can be determined.

The trial court erred when it failed to return the proceeds which had been garnished from Pochynok's account, and further erred when it failed to reinstate Pochynok's mechanic's lien. After the Utah Supreme Court vacated the attorney fees award in this case, there was no valid legal basis for the Smedsruuds to retain the garnished money.

### **ARGUMENT**

#### ISSUE 1

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT HAD ENOUGH INFORMATION TO PROPERLY DETERMINE THE "SUCCESSFUL PARTY" IN THIS CASE FOR PURPOSES OF

AWARDING ATTORNEY FEES BASED UPON THE JURY VERDICT THAT WAS  
RENDERED IN THIS MATTER?

The trial court in this matter did not have enough information from the jury to utilize the flexible and reasoned approach mandated by the Utah Supreme Court. The jury verdict form completed by the jury only provided for an award in favor of Pochynok and not for any award in favor of Smedsrud. The jury's May 22, 2002 Jury Verdict stated as follows:

1. Based on the law as it has been explained to us, we find in favor of plaintiff J. Pochynok Company, Inc., and against defendants Gregory and LouAnn Smedsrud, in the amount of \$7,076.56.
2. Based on the law as it has been explained to us, we find in favor of defendants Gregory and LouAnn Smedsrud, and against plaintiffs J. Pochynok Company, Inc., in the amount of \$\_\_\_\_\_.

The jury thus found Pochynok entitled to recover \$7,076.56 from the Smedsruuds. No amount was inserted in the blank providing for any award in favor of the Smedsruuds.

Following trial, Pochynok and the Smedsruuds each claimed attorney fees under Section 38-1-18 of Utah mechanic's lien law. Subsection (1) of Section 38-1-18 provides "the successful party" shall be entitled to recover reasonable attorney fees. Notwithstanding that the jury awarded \$7,076.56 to Pochynok, and made no express award to the Smedsruuds, the trial court ruled the Smedsruuds the successful party for purposes of awarding attorney fees and did in fact award the Smedsruuds' costs and attorneys fees against Pochynok in the amount of \$84,036.54.

On appeal, the Utah Court of Appeals found the trial court properly determined the Smedsruuds were the successful party, and noted the jury's verdict did not show whatever offsets the jury might have applied as to the Smedsruuds' counterclaims. The appellate

court then stated the trial court *could have inferred* that the jury awarded the Smedsruuds \$74,193.35 in offsets and on that basis may have concluded the Smedsruuds were the successful party.

The June 24, 2005 decision of the Utah Supreme Court reversed the decision of the Court of Appeals. The Supreme Court's decision notes that Pochynok filed a mechanic's lien for approximately \$74,000.00 and that Pochynok had asserted a claim at trial for \$81,269.91 not including costs or attorneys fees. The Supreme Court further noted that the Smedsruuds claimed an unspecified amount of offsets and damages, claiming unearned supervisor fees, work defects and delays.

The Supreme Court's decision stated that the jury awarded Pochynok a verdict of \$7,076.56 giving no indication of whether or by how much the jury may have offset the claims made by the Smedsruuds against any larger Pochynok entitlement which might have entered into the jury's deliberations.

The Supreme Court held that the trial court should have first determined who was the "successful party" under subsection (1) of Section 38-1-18. The Supreme Court decision cites *A.K. & R. Whipple Plumbing & Heating v. Aspen Constr.*, 94 P.3d 270 (Utah 2004), a mechanic's lien case in which counterclaims were made although one party received a small recovery. *Whipple* held the trial court properly determined there was no "successful party", only essentially a draw and was justified in not awarding attorney fees. The Supreme Court stated that the *Whipple* decision means that rigid application of the net judgment rule could result in unreasonable awards of attorneys fees and deprive a trial court of power to apply discretion and common sense and said that the



“flexible and reasoned approach” outlined in *Whipple* and in *Mountain States Broadcasting Co. v. Neale*, 783 P.2d 551 (Utah Ct.App. 1989) “requires more information about the jury award for the parties’ particular claims than is available in this case.”

The Supreme Court further said that “because the jury’s verdict did not indicate specific awards and offsets, the trial court did not have the information necessary to undertake such a balancing” (of amounts sought vs. what was recovered) and in its final conclusion said that “we conclude that the trial court could not have made this (successful party) determination without specific information regarding the total amount the jury awarded to Pochynok and the total amount in offsets it awarded to the Smedsruks.”

The aforementioned statement presumes, without support from the record, that the jury made entitlement findings for both sides and then offset them to arrive at a net award in favor of Pochynok although the Supreme Court said the jury “did not provide this information in its verdict form.”

The Supreme Court’s decision states that the trial court should have made findings regarding “the amount sought and won by each party”. However, the trial court was not in a position to do that for the very reasons stated several times in the Supreme Court opinion. The jury properly conducted its deliberations outside the presence of the trial court leaving no earmarked trail as to how it came to the award made to Pochynok.

The jury may have determined that Pochynok proved only part of Pochynok’s claims. The jury may have determined the Smedsruks did not prove any of the Smedsruks’ counterclaims. The jury may have determined the Smedsruks proved part,

but not all of their counterclaims and offset them against amounts it determined were owed Pochynok.

The jury's single entry on the jury verdict form leaves the parties, their counsel, the trial court, the Court of Appeals and the Supreme Court to speculate and guess as to whether and to what extent the jury may or may not have determined the Smedsruuds were entitled to offsets against a larger amount the jury determined was earned by Pochynok or whether and the extent to which the jury decided the evidence was insufficient to support certain claims.

A "flexible and reasoned" approach to the fee entitlement issue cannot arise from speculation/supposition concerning the jury's verdict. The Supreme Court's opinion specifically rejects the "reasoned" suppositions made by the Court of Appeals concerning suppositions previously made by the trial court, emphasizing that it cannot be determined from the jury's verdict by what means the jury arrived at its result. The opinion of the Supreme Court did not and could not help the trial court speculate as to how the jury may or may not have proceeded in arriving at its award to Pochynok. There has been no waiver of the right to jury trial as to foundational factual issues in favor of speculative court findings of fact and conclusions of law made on a cold record three years after the trial as to the meaning of a simple jury verdict.

While the opinion of the Supreme Court does not specifically direct a retrial, it also does not and could not properly purport to deny the party's right to a jury trial on factual issues the opinion states are dispositive of the attorney fee entitlement issue.

The Supreme Court's opinion repeatedly emphasizes the fact that the trial court could not make a determination of entitlement to attorney fees without *additional information*. The Supreme Court's opinion repeatedly states such information is simply not available from the jury verdict. There is simply no source from which such information can be derived other than from pure speculation. The trial court, therefore, could not properly determine entitlement to attorney fees on the basis of its speculation concerning the means by which a jury may have arrived at the verdict in favor of Pochynok.

If the jury had inserted a total entitlement figure in the Pochynok award and a total entitlement figure in the blank provided for a Smedsrud award, would there be a starting point for application of the "flexible and reasoned" and "balancing (claims and recoveries) proportionally approach" directed by the Supreme Court?

No. Such figures would not alone suffice because as the Supreme Court's opinion points out "the jury verdict does not specify who won what". Further, as stated by the Supreme Court opinion:

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