2006

J. Pochynok Company, Inc., a Corporation v. Gregory Smedsrud and Louann Smedsrud : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

Appellees agree with Appellant's statement of jurisdiction of this case.

PARTIES TO THE APPEAL

The parties to the appeal are Plaintiff and Appellant J. Pochynok Company, Inc. (hereafter "Pochynok"), and Defendants and Appellees Gregory Smedsrud and LouAnn Smedsrud (hereafter "Smedsruuds").

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

1. Whether the trial court properly followed the Supreme Court's mandate on remand by making factual determinations necessary to determine that Smedsruuds were the "successful parties" in this case for the purposes of awarding attorneys fees based upon the jury verdict rendered in this matter.

This issue concerns the trial court's apportionment of costs (including attorneys' fees) under Utah Code Ann. §§ 38-1-17 and 38-1-18. As applicable case law clothes the trial court with discretion in this analysis, its decision in this regard is reviewable under an abuse of discretion standard – *Shupe v. Menlove*, 18 Utah 2d 130, 417 P.2d 246 (1966); *AK&R Whipple Plumbing & Heating v. Guy*, 47 P.3d 92 (UT App 2002); *Ault v. Holden*, 44 P. 3d 781 (Utah 2002).

2. Whether the trial court properly denied Pochynok's Motion to Set Aside Garnishment, for Restitution, and to Reinstate Mechanic's Lien; alternatively, whether the trial court's entry of findings and conclusions rendered that Motion moot.

Smedsrud challenges that this issue was properly preserved incident to this appeal. The general question of the propriety of the trial court's garnishment proceeding was previously appealed to this court (Appeal No. 20020940), and affirmed by this Court's prior decision therein (*J. Pochynok Company, Inc. V. Gregory Smedsrud and Louann Smedsrud*, 2003 UT App 80; P.3d 563, Addendum at No. 1). The issue was not accepted for review by the Supreme Court on certiorari – see Supreme Court decision in *J. Pochynok Company, Inc. V. Gregory Smedsrud and Louann Smedsrud*, 2005 UT 39, 116 P.3d 353, Addendum at No. 2. Neither was any review of the garnishment order made part of the order on remand – Addendum at No. 2. Accordingly, it was not properly before the trial court on remand, and is not properly before this court on appeal.

To the extent properly appealable, the trial court's ruling on this issue (assuming that such ruling may be implied from the findings and conclusions entered – see Argument at Point II, below) was not based on “a misunderstanding or misapplication of the law”, but followed from the carrying out of the Supreme Court's mandate to enter findings and conclusions bearing on whether Smedsruds remained the “successful party”

at trial. Again, given the court's underlying discretion in determining the "successful party" in this action, the trial court's ruling should be viewed for abuse of discretion

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case concerns the construction of a residence in Summit County, State of Utah. Smedsruks, as owners, were sued by Pochynok for breach of contract and *quantum meruit*. Pochynok further sought to foreclose the later of two mechanic's liens asserted against the Smedsruks' residence. Smedsruks counterclaimed, asserting defective workmanship and failure to complete the project.

The matter was set for jury trial commencing May 21, 2002. On May 9, 2002, counsel for Smedsruks presented Pochynok with an offer of judgment in the amount of \$40,000 (see Addendum at No. 3 hereto, R 408-410). Pochynok declined the offer, and the case proceeded to trial on the claim as pleaded, *Smedsruk having paid no portion thereof, to Pochynok or its subcontractors, in the interim.*

The case was tried to a jury on May 21-22, 2002. In its case in chief, Pochynok initially claimed \$81,269.91 in damages (having plead \$74,360.51 in its Complaint – R. 1-6; 200-207); during the course of trial, though, Plaintiff/Appellant was inconsistent in the computation of its claim. Defendants, by contrast, presented evidence that they were entitled to significant offsets for unearned supervisor fees, work defects and delays. Defendants further produced evidence that they had never received a consistent

accounting from plaintiff despite nearly three years of negotiations and attempts, contradictory and inconsistent claims coming from plaintiff right up to the eve of trial. See Defendants' Exhibits D-29 and D-46. Had plaintiff been willing to discuss a consistent claim in light of defendants' demands and offsets, the case would not have gone to trial; absent a cogent accounting, though, defendants had no choice but to submit the matter for a jury to decide. (R. 390-434).

Following deliberation, the jury returned a verdict (net of offsets) of only \$7,096.00 for Pochynok. See Addendum at No. 4 (R. 354-355). Pochynok did not appeal the jury verdict, nor did it order a transcript of the trial for inclusion in the record herein.

On May 31, 2002, Defendants and Appellees moved the court for an order taxing costs and attorneys' fees which they had incurred in the litigation. Plaintiff/Appellant J. Pochynok Company opposed the motion of Defendants and Appellees, and filed its own motion for an award of costs and fees. Both parties submitted evidence of costs and attorneys' fees in the form of affidavits by legal counsel.

By minute entry dated July 25, 2002 (R. 621-622), the trial court granted Defendant/Appellees' motion to tax costs and attorneys' fees, and denied Plaintiff/Appellant's motion. Judgment upon the verdict was thereupon entered by the Court on August 5, 2002 as follows:

a. Judgment was entered in favor of Plaintiff J. Pochynok Company, Inc., and against Defendants Gregory Smedsrud and LouAnn Smedsrud, jointly and severally, in the amount of \$7,076.56, together with interest thereon from and after May 22, 2002 until paid in full at the contract rate of 12% per annum.

b. Judgment was entered in favor of Defendants Gregory and LouAnn Smedsrud, jointly and severally, and against Plaintiff J. Pochynok Company, Inc., in the following amounts:

- i. \$1,906.94, representing Defendants' costs of suit incurred prior to May 9, 2002;
- ii. \$48,083.10, representing Defendants' attorneys' fees incurred prior to May 9, 2002;
- iii. \$766.50, representing Defendants' costs of suit incurred on and after May 9, 2002;
- iv. \$33,280.00, representing Defendants' attorneys' fees incurred on and after May 9, 2002; and
- v. Interest was awarded on the foregoing amounts from and after May 22, 2002 until paid in full, at the contract rate of 12%.

The Judgment further denied Plaintiff/Appellant's petition for foreclosure of its mechanic's lien against the residence of Defendants/Appellees, holding that Plaintiff/Appellant held no right, title or interest therein. See Addendum at No. 5 (R. 635-640).

On August 23, 2002, Pochynok moved the court for an order altering or amending the judgment under Rule 59 (e), Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, which was denied by order of the lower court on October 7, 2002 (R. 629-631). Pochynok filed its Notice of Appeal on November 4, 2002. By Order dated December 20, 2002 (R. 854-855), this matter was referred to the Court of Appeals for decision. Following briefing and argument, the Court of Appeals issued its decision on November 6, 2003 (Addendum at No. 1).

Pochynok petitioned the Utah Supreme Court for certiorari on January 5, 2004. By order dated March 18, 2004, the Supreme Court granted certiorari on the sole issue of whether Smedsruks had properly been deemed the "successful parties" at trial for purposes of the award of costs and attorney's fees (Addendum at No. 2). On June 1, 2004, Pochynok submitted its brief on Certiorari. On June 30th, the Smedsruks submitted their Brief on Certiorari. On August 2, 2004, Pochynok submitted its Reply Brief.

On June 24, 2005, the Supreme Court issued an opinion upholding the Court of Appeals' use of the flexible and reason approach in its review of the trial courts

determination of the “successful party.” The Supreme Court recognized that the trial court should have made findings regarding the amounts sought and awarded by each party. In addition, the Court indicated that a determination of the successful party under §38-1-18 should have occurred before the calculation required under subsection (3) and that any attorneys’ fee award under subsection (1) should then be included in the subsection (3) calculation of whether any offer of judgment was greater than the judgment finally obtained at trial. Finally, the Court remanded to the Court of Appeals with instruction to remand to the trial court for a factual determination of awards and offsets, followed by a ruling of who was the successful party under Utah Code Ann. § 38-1-18(1), and whether an award of attorneys’ fees under § 38-1-18(3) was proper.

Addendum at No. 2.

On November 15, 2005, Pochynok moved the trial court for an order setting aside the writ of garnishment previously entered, ordering restitution of garnished funds, and reinstating its mechanic’s lien (R. 904-912). The trial court, by order dated February 6, 2006, took Pochynok’s motion under advisement and, consistent with the Supreme Court’s directive, requested Pochynok and the Smedsrud to each prepare and submit proposed Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law. Both parties submitted proposed findings and conclusions.

On March 3, 2006, the Court signed the Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law submitted by Defendant/Appellees Smedsrud, as follows:

FINDINGS OF FACT

1. This matter was tried to a jury on May 21 and 22, 2002.
2. J. Pochynok Company Inc. ("Plaintiff") had filed a complaint against Gregory Smedsrud and Lou Ann Smedsrud ("Smedsruds") to foreclose a mechanic's lien asserted for work allegedly performed to the Smedsruds' residence located at 7100 Canyon Road in Summit County, State of Utah.
3. Plaintiff's claims were based upon a Notice of Mechanic's Lien filed with the Summit County Recorder's office on October 19, 1999, in the amount of \$74,360.51, together with interest, \$100 in costs and attorneys' fees. See Exhibit 1 hereto.
4. Plaintiff had previously filed, and then released, a Notice of Mechanic's Lien against Defendants' property on July 26, 1999 in the amount of \$150,000, plus interest, costs and attorneys' fees. See Exhibit 2.
5. Plaintiff also brought claims against the Smedsruds for breach of contract and quantum meruit.
6. The Smedsruds counterclaimed, asserting defective workmanship and failure to complete the project.
7. Pella Products, Inc. had asserted a crossclaim against Smedsrud; this, however, had been dismissed with prejudice pursuant to stipulation and prior order of this Court.
8. In addition, all claims of Plaintiff J. Pochynok Company, Inc. against Defendants Blaze Wharton Construction, Inc. and Jeffrey Kaiser were voluntarily dismissed without prejudice pursuant to Rule 41(a), Utah Rules of Civil Procedure prior to trial.

9. At trial, Plaintiff asserted a claim against Defendants in the amount of \$81,269.91 (exclusive of costs and attorneys' fees).

10. Plaintiff offered inconsistent calculations, however, for money allegedly owed in the computation of its claim. Specifically, documentary evidence was introduced at trial showing inconsistent demands by Plaintiff for payment.

11. In addition, evidence was introduced that Plaintiff had filed the July 26, 1999 notice of mechanics' lien against Smedsruks' residence at a time when significant draw requests had recently been paid.

12. Smedsruks presented evidence challenging Plaintiff's accounting work, and establishing that Plaintiff's claim at trial, and its second notice of mechanics' lien, were excessive.

13. Smedsruks also presented evidence that they were entitled to significant offsets for unearned supervisor fees, work defects and delays. Specifically, Smedsruks presented evidence that

a. Paint work had been double charged, resulting in overcharge of \$23,087.07;

b. Plaintiff's contractor fee on the paint work overcharged was likewise unwarranted, resulting in an overcharge of \$2,308.71;

c. Smedsruks had been subjected to unwarranted delay costs of \$3,118.75; and

d. Plaintiff's lien had been overstated, permitting offset in an amount equal to twice the overcharge amount, which Smedsruks placed at \$11,535.96.

14. Smedsruks further produced evidence that they had never received a consistent accounting from Plaintiff despite nearly three years of negotiations and attempts, contradictory and inconsistent claims coming from Plaintiff right up to the eve of trial. Had Plaintiff been willing to discuss a consistent claim in light of

Defendants' demands and offsets, the case would not have gone to trial; absent a cogent accounting, though, Defendants had no choice but to submit the matter for a jury to decide

15. At the conclusion of the evidence, the jury returned a general verdict in favor of Plaintiff in the amount of only \$7,076.56.

CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

1. With respect to an award of costs and attorneys fees to the "successful party" in this action, pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 38-1-18(1), this Court is charged with applying a "flexible and reasoned approach" to the parties' relative successes in establishing their claims at trial – *AK&R Whipple Plumbing & Heating v. Aspen Construction*, 2004 Utah 47, ¶¶ 25-26, 94 P.3d 270.

2. At trial, Plaintiff asserted claims exceeding \$81,000; Smedsruks, however (1) challenged the propriety of Plaintiff's accounting and claim, and (2) asserted an offset claim of \$40,050.49, together with accrued judgment interest.

3. As such, Plaintiff recovered on only a small fraction of its original claim, which was reduced by a factor even greater than the dollar amount of Smedsruks' claimed offsets.

4. The trial court found Smedsruks' challenge to Plaintiff's claim, coupled with their asserted offsets, more persuasive than Plaintiff's offered evidence in support of its claim.

5. The trial court was further persuaded that, had Plaintiff offered an accurate accounting to Smedsruks, trial by jury might have been averted.

6. Under these circumstances, the court concludes that Smedsruks obtained a comparative victory, considering what total victory would have meant for each of the parties.

7. The court further concludes that Smedsruks obtained a full percentage of their claimed offsets.

8. Accordingly, the court concludes that Smedsruks were the “successful party” at trial, for purposes of Utah Code Ann. § 38-1-18(1).

9. In light of the foregoing, the court affirms its prior award of costs and attorneys fees to Smedsruks, and its prior denial of costs and attorneys fees to Plaintiff.

10. In light of the foregoing, the court likewise reaffirms its award of Smedsruks’ costs and attorneys fees incurred after May 9, 2002, pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 38-1-18(3), given that Smedsruks’ May 9, 2002 Offer of Judgment was greater than Plaintiff’s actual recovery at trial, with or without an award of costs and attorneys fees under Utah Code Ann. § 38-1-18(1).

11. The court therefore reaffirms its judgment upon verdict and order on post-trial motions entered August 15, 2002, as that order and judgment may hereafter be supplemented in the amount of any post-judgment costs and attorneys fees incurred by Smedsruks as may hereafter be established by affidavit. . .

Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law, R. 984-992, Addendum at No. 6¹.

STATEMENT OF FACTS